IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

Case No. 16-1462

MARK GRIFFIOEN, et al.,
Plaintiff-Appellants

v.

CEDAR RAPIDS and IOWA CITY, et al.
Defendants-Appellee's

Appeal from Judgment in the Iowa District Court for Linn County
Case No. LACV078694

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Sam Sheronick,
SAM SHERONICK LAW FIRM, P.C.
4125 Glass Road NE
Cedar Rapids, Iowa 52402
Telephone:(319) 366-8193
Email: sam@samlawpc.com

C. Brooks Cutter, Pro Hac Vice
John R. Parker, Jr., Pro Hac Vice
CUTTER LAW P.C.
401 Watt Avenue
Sacramento, CA 95864
Telephone:(916)290-9400
Email: bcutter@cutterlaw.com
jparker@cutterlaw.com

Russell G. Petti, Pro Hac Vice
LAW OFFICES OF RUSSELL G. PETTI
466 Foothill Blvd., # 389

I. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT.

In June 2008, Defendants'¹ actions caused a nearly biennial, minor flood to turn into a major catastrophic flood, destroying over ten square miles and causing Cedar Rapids property owners to suffer over six billion dollars of property damage. Defendants caused this damage because they sought to protect their railroad bridges spanning the Cedar River at the expense of property owners in Cedar Rapids. Immediately before the June 2008 flood, Defendants parked railcars loaded with heavy rock on these bridges in an effort to keep the bridges from washing out during what would have been a minor flood. Two of the bridges, weighed down with Defendants' rock-filled railcars, collapsed, creating an artificial dam, and causing the river to rise the same exact height of the rail cars and the second collapsed, solid-sided rail bridge. The railcars parked on the two bridges that did not collapse also acted like a dam when the bridges were overtopped by the rising waters, diverting additional waters over the banks of the river. As a result, storm sewers were blocked from emptying into the river, which

¹ Defendant-Appellees Union Pacific Railroad Company, Union Pacific Corporation (collectively referred to as "UP"), Alliant Energy Corporation, and Cedar Rapids and Iowa City Railway Company (collectively referred to as "CRANDIC").

exacerbated the effects of the two collapsed rail bridges. The injured Plaintiffs² filed a Class Action Petition (“CAP”), seeking damages based on Iowa state law claims for the property damage caused by Defendants’ negligence and malfeasance.

Since this case was filed—over three years ago—Defendants have avoided discovery and adjudication on the merits by asserting various preemption defenses. First, Defendants removed the suit to federal court claiming the Federal Railroad Safety Act (hereinafter “FRSA”) preempted state law. Then, realizing they would not win that argument, Defendants switched their removal/preemption theory by claiming that the Interstate Commerce Commission Termination Act (“ICCTA”) completely preempted the Plaintiffs’ claims. Defendants took this position despite acknowledging that the ICCTA did not supply a federal remedy, a requirement for complete preemption (as opposed to conflict preemption, which is their current argument). Unfortunately, the federal District Court agreed with Defendants, dismissing the suit without leave to amend. An appeal to the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals followed, and the Eighth Circuit ruled that, because the ICCTA did not supply a federal claim for relief to substitute for the Plaintiffs’ claims, there was no complete preemption. The case was remanded to Iowa state court.

² Plaintiff-Appellants Mark Griffioen, Joyce Ludvick, Mike Ludvick, Sandra Skelton, and Brian Vanous and All Others Similarly Situated (hereinafter collectively referenced as “Plaintiffs”).

Since arriving back to the Linn County District Court, Defendants have concocted yet a third preemption theory, that Plaintiffs' state law claims are preempted because they conflict with the ICCTA (i.e. claiming conflict preemption). In other words, Defendants argue that, even if every word of the CAP were true and that their negligence and wrongful conduct caused immense damage to nearly 20,000 people, Defendants are immunized by federal law from any possible liability. But this completely misstates the applicable law of preemption, and there is nothing in either the language of the ICCTA or its legislative history that supports the notion that Congress intended such an extraordinary result.

Plaintiffs respectfully submit that the District Court erred when it dismissed this case. With conflict preemption, state laws are preempted only when they *actually* conflict with or attempt to directly regulate the federally-regulated industry in question (here, the railroad industry). However, conflict preemption does not apply to state laws of general applicability with only an *incidental* effect upon the federally-regulated industry. Here, the Plaintiffs' claims for property damage are founded upon generally-applicable Iowa state laws of negligence and strict liability. Because the effect of these Iowa laws on rail transportation is only incidental, there is no preemption.

Moreover, the ICCTA attempted to deregulate the rail industry, not to

immunize it from tort liability—and this intent is clearly stated in the Act’s legislative history. Similarly, the ICCTA vests certain powers in the agency it created, the Surface Transportation Board (“STB”), and only preempts state laws that purport to duplicate remedies created by the ICCTA. The Eighth Circuit has already held, *in this very case*, that the Plaintiffs’ claims do not implicate any remedies created by the ICCTA and are therefore not generally preempted by the ICCTA.

Moreover, the scope of ICCTA preemption is well established, with a test which has been adopted by every federal appeals court to examine the issue (seven U.S. Courts of Appeal, at last count) as well as numerous state courts. This test is simple—under the ICCTA:

1. Direct state regulation of rail transportation is preempted; but
2. State laws of general application with an *incidental or remote* impact on rail transportation are *not* preempted.

Under this straight-forward test, ICCTA preemption is narrowly limited to state laws that attempt to directly regulate railroad economic functions, such as location of rail lines, rail rates, competition, rail operations and the like. State laws of general application—like the Iowa common law of negligence and strict liability applicable here—are not preempted, as their impact on railroads and rail transportation are only incidental.

Consistent with the prevailing test, many federal and state courts have

agreed that ICCTA preemption does not apply just because the defendant is a railroad and the subject of the suit might involve or impact rail transportation. Instead, courts limit ICCTA preemption to a State's attempts to directly regulate transportation. Accordingly, under this prevailing test, the ICCTA does not preempt the claims of plaintiffs who sue under state law to recover for property damage or personal injury caused by a railroad's acts or negligence. Similarly, many courts have held that railroads are not exempt from state laws of general application, even where the state law might have some incidental impact on rail transportation. The general rule, for the ICCTA and all federal regulation, is that the imposition of a federal regulatory scheme does not preempt state tort laws of general application, barring an expressed intent by Congress specifically to preempt garden-variety state law remedies for economic damages.

But beyond Plaintiffs' common law claims for economic loss, Plaintiffs have also brought safety-related claims in this lawsuit (such as claims for strict liability), which are more appropriately analyzed under the FRSA. The FRSA is explicit that state law claims for property damage like the ones asserted by the Plaintiffs here are not preempted by federal law.³ And Plaintiffs' statutory claims (brought under

³ Plaintiffs note that the City of Cedar Rapids exercised common-sense police powers in recent high water events that occurred in 2016 to protect against potential flooding, where the City blocked the entrances to the rail bridges with barriers as a precaution. If allowed to amend, Plaintiffs would include these allegations to argue that broad exemptions from state and local regulations—the

an Iowa statute which requires railroads be kept in good repair) are likewise not preempted: in *Chicago & Eastern R.R. Corp. v. Washington County, Iowa*, 384 F.3d 557 (8th Cir. 2004), the Eighth Circuit held that *this very statute* was not preempted by the ICCTA.

The District Court erred below because it did not apply the correct, majority test for preemption. Instead, the District Court relied on a little-cited decision by a Texas State appellate court, and expressly rejected the test for ICCTA preemption that has been accepted by every federal circuit to consider the question. Moreover, in addition to applying the wrong test, the District Court decided on the pleadings, without any evidentiary proceeding that could assess the truth of Defendants’ argument, that the claims here would impermissibly burden Defendants’ obligations to comply with the ICCTA and federal regulations. The District Court accordingly immunized Defendants’ from any possibility of liability “on faith”—simply assuming that the Defendants’ version of the facts is correct without actually weighing or considering any facts at all.

The Linn County District Court also principally relied on cases where the plaintiffs had demanded that the defendant railroad operate differently or reconstruct its track to certain specifications—actions which would have some

type of exemptions for which the railroads argue—would prevent local governments from preventing large-scale destruction such as that which occurred in 2008.

impact on rail operations. However, the Plaintiffs here seek no such remedy. Plaintiffs make no demands on how Defendants should operate in the future, whether they should be able to park railcars on their remaining bridges (which are now over a century old), or how they should reconstruct any destroyed bridges (or whether they reconstruct them at all). Rather, Plaintiffs seek money damages because past wrongful conduct has damaged their property. And the United States Supreme Court has consistently held, in cases like *Bates v. Dow Agrosciences LLC*, 544 U.S. 431, 442 (2005), discussed below, that a jury award for damages that could have the incidental effect of altering a federally-regulated entity's conduct in the future does not constitute a "conflict" with federal regulation that would require preemption.

Put simply, Plaintiffs are seeking property damages under state laws of general application because Defendants' actions caused that property damage. Their case is not preempted.

II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES OF APPEAL.

1. Whether the Linn District Court erred in holding that state laws of general application with only an incidental impact on rail transportation were preempted by the ICCTA;

Authority: *Florida E. Coast Ry. Co. v. City of W. Palm Beach*, 266 F.3d 1324, 1331 (11th Cir. 2001); *Franks Inv. Co. LLC v. Union Pac. R. Co.*, 593 F.3d 404, 407 (5th Cir. 2010); *Elam v. Kansas City S. Ry. Co.*, 635 F.3d 796, 807, 813 (5th Cir. 2011)

2. Whether the Linn District Court erred when it failed to consider that, because Plaintiffs' primary concerns involved rail safety issues, the federal preemption question should be addressed under the FRSA, which expressly holds that state claims are not preempted; and

Authority: *Tyrrell v. Norfolk Southern Ry. Co.*, 248 F.3d 517, 522-23 (6th Cir. 2001); *Chicago & Eastern R.R. Corp. v. Washington County, Iowa*, 384 F.3d 557, 560 (8th Cir. 2004)

3. Whether the Linn District Court erred in dismissing the Plaintiffs' claims on the pleadings, without a showing by Defendants that the claims actually had an impact on rail transportation;

Authority: *Orud v. Groth*, 652 N.W.2d 447, 450-511 (Iowa, 2002); *Elam v. Kansas City S. Ry. Co.*, 635 F.3d 796, 813 (5th Cir. 2011); *People v. Burlington N. Santa Fe R.R.*, 209 Cal. App. 4th 1513, 1528, 148 Cal. Rptr. 3d 243, 254 (2012)

4. Whether the Linn District Court erred in finding that Iowa Code § 327F.2 is preempted by the ICCTA, a determination directly contrary to the Eighth Circuit's *Washington County Case*.

Authority: *Chicago & Eastern R.R. Corp. v. Washington County, Iowa*, 384 F.3d 557, 560 (8th Cir. 2004)

III. ROUTING STATEMENT: THIS CASE SHOULD BE RETAINED BY THE IOWA SUPREME COURT.

The factors set out in Iowa R. App. Proc. 6.1101 mitigate in favor of the Iowa Supreme Court retaining this case:

1. This case involves a substantial question as to the validity of a statute;
2. The issue of whether Iowa law is preempted by the ICCTA is an issue of first impression in the Iowa courts; and

3. The case involves an issue of broad public importance, which is whether the Plaintiffs (and the nearly 20,000 property owners they hope to represent) in Cedar Rapids will be compensated for damages allegedly caused by Defendants during the 2008 Cedar Rapids flood.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS, STATEMENT OF THE CASE, AND THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION.

A. Statement of facts as pleaded in the CAP.

The Plaintiffs and putative class members all own property in Cedar Rapids, Iowa, which was damaged when the Cedar River flooded in June of 2008 (June 7, 2013 Class Action Petition (App. 4-5). Prior to the June 2008 flood, Defendants parked railcars loaded with rock on dilapidated, over-century-old bridges they owned which spanned the Cedar River in an effort to save the bridges from being washed out. (App. 7-8). Because the bridges were weighed down with heavy, rock-filled railcars, some of them collapsed, effectively damming the river. (App. 9). The railcars on the bridges that did not collapse also caused damage: when the bridges were overtopped by the river water, they acted like a dam, diverting enormous amounts of water into low-lying areas rather than letting the water flow through the “skeletal” bridges and down the river. (App. 8). All of these actions by Defendants combined to cause—or at least substantially exacerbate—the 2008 Flood. (App 9).

The Plaintiffs filed the CAP to recover damage caused to their property based upon strict liability law for Defendants' negligence (App. 23), engagement in abnormally dangerous activity (App. 16-18), and for violations of Iowa Code § 468.148 (App. 19), which imposes liability under state law upon persons who cause damage through obstruction of the free flow of waters, and Iowa Code § 327F.2, which requires that railroads, among other things, maintain, and keep in good repair all bridges (App. 21-22).

B. Statement of the case.

The June 7, 2013 CAP alleged only state law claims against Defendants. On July 2, 2013 the Union Pacific Defendants filed a Notice of Removal contending that the Plaintiffs' claims were completely preempted by Federal law. (App. 104-209). This Notice made no mention of the ICCTA, rather, UP contended that the Plaintiffs' state law claims were preempted by an entirely different body of law, the Federal Railroad Safety Act ("FRSA") (49 U.S.C. § 20101 *et seq.*). (App. 109-111).

Shortly thereafter, Plaintiffs filed a Motion to Remand for improper removal and lack of subject matter jurisdiction noting that in *Lundeen v. Canadian Pacific R. Co.* 532 F.3d 682, 688 (8th Cir. 2008), the Eighth Circuit held that the 2007 "clarifying amendment" to the FRSA's preemption provision (49 U.S.C. § 20106)

expressly stated that the FRSA did not preempt state law claims such as those brought by the Plaintiffs.

In response, Defendants abandoned the argument that the FRSA completely preempted the Plaintiffs' claims. Instead, Defendants argued for the first time that it was the ICCTA which formed the basis for removal. (App. 216). But this new argument was also wrong. The ICCTA provides no remedy for a property owner damaged by a railroad's negligent use of its property, and numerous decisions by the United States Supreme Court and various federal circuit courts of appeal have uniformly held that complete preemption giving rise to federal jurisdiction can *only* exist where the federal scheme supplies an *alternative cause of action*.⁴

Defendants failed to identify a federal scheme replacing the state laws which it contended were subject to federal preemption, and to the contrary, UP explicitly stated that the Plaintiffs could assert no possible claim against it. (App. 213).

The federal district court accepted Defendants' flawed argument, agreeing that there was complete preemption even though no alternative cause of action

⁴ *E.g. King v. Marriott Intern. Inc.*, 337 F.3d 421, 425 (4th Cir. 2003) ("Thus, a vital feature of complete preemption is the existence of a federal cause of action that replaces the preempted state cause of action."); *Rogers v. Tyson Foods, Inc.*, 308 F.3d 785, 788 (7th Cir. 2002) ("Logically, complete preemption would not be appropriate if a federal remedy did not exist in the alternative."); *Johnson v. MFA Petroleum Co.*, 701 F.3d 243, 252 (8th Cir. 2012) ("We conclude that without a federal cause of action which in effect replaces a state law claim, there is an exceptionally strong presumption against complete preemption.").

existed. Plaintiffs were compelled to appeal the court’s decision to the Eighth Circuit. Not surprisingly, given the clarity of the law on this point, the Eighth Circuit agreed with the Plaintiffs holding complete preemption cannot exist without a federal cause of action:

The scope of complete preemption turns primarily on the provision creating the federal cause of action—not on an express preemption provision. It is the federal cause of action that ultimately supplants the state-law cause of action and effectuates complete preemption.

Griffioen v. Cedar Rapids & Iowa City Ry. Co., 785 F.3d 1182, 1190 (8th Cir. 2015).

Upon remand to the Linn County District Court, Defendants advanced the equally-flawed argument that Congress essentially immunized railroads from state law tort and statutory liability when it enacted the ICCTA, while further contending that Congress intended victims of railroad negligence to have no remedies at all. Unfortunately, the Linn County District Court accepted this new argument, dismissing the Plaintiffs’ claims on the pleadings, without leave to amend. The District Court’s decision is in error.

C. The District Court’s decision was flawed on numerous grounds.

The District Court made three fundamental errors when it determined that the ICCTA preempted Plaintiffs’ claims. Initially, the District Court failed to follow the test for ICCTA preemption generally accepted by the courts, which is that ICCTA preemption is “narrow,” and preempts state attempts to directly

regulate rail transportation, but not state laws of general application which have only *an incidental or remote impact* on rail transportation. Instead, citing to cases such as *A&W Properties, Inc. v. Kansas City Southern Ry. Co.*, 200 S.W.3d 342 (Tex. App. 2006), the District Court followed a minority view, holding that state law claims are preempted by the ICCTA if the remedies they seek would have any impact *at all* on rail transportation. (App. 338).

Second, even using this erroneous standard, the District Court should not have decided this case on the pleadings. Whether a state law burdens rail transportation is—for the most part—a fact-based inquiry, yet at the pleading stage, Defendants had not presented a single fact showing that the relief sought by the Plaintiffs (monetary compensation for damages caused by Defendants’ negligence) would have any impact at all on rail transportation.

Third, one of the Plaintiffs’ claims is based on Iowa Code section 327F.2, which requires railroads to keep rail bridges in good repair. In *Chicago & Eastern R.R. Corp. v. Washington County, Iowa*, the Eighth Circuit held section 327F.2, this precise statute, which creates a state law cause of action for negligence arising out the maintenance of railroad bridges, was not preempted by the ICCTA, in spite of the fact that it constituted direct regulation of rail transportation. 384 F.3d 557, 561 (8th Cir. 2004). In finding that *Washington County* was not controlling here, the District Court misread that decision and improperly narrowed it to its facts.

V. ARGUMENT.

A. **The Court should analyze the trial court’s flawed preemption analysis under the correction of error standard, and the issue was preserved for appeal.**

Given that Plaintiffs appeal the District Court’s grant of Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss on the pleadings, review here is for correction of error. Under this standard, the District Court’s decision should be upheld “only if we can conclude that no state of facts is conceivable under which a plaintiff might show a right of recovery.” *Smith v. Smith*, 513 N.W.2d 728, 730 (Iowa 1994).

The issue of the proper construction of the ICCTA’s preemption provision was raised at the District Court and therefore was preserved for appeal. (*E.g.* App. 70-84).

B. **The ICCTA does not preempt state laws of general application with an incidental effect on rail transportation.**

1. **Defendants must overcome the presumption that state law is not preempted, and bear the burden of proof to show that the Plaintiffs’ claims are preempted by the ICCTA.**

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