IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

Case No. 16-1462

MARK GRIFFIOEN, et al.,
Plaintiff-Appellants

v.

CEDAR RAPIDS AND IOWA CITY RAILWAY CO., et al.
Defendants-Appellees

Appeal from
the Iowa District Court for Linn County
The Honorable Paul D. Miller, Judge
Linn County No. LACV078694

FINAL BRIEF
of Appellees Cedar Rapids and Iowa City Railway Company
and Alliant Energy Corporation

Timothy R. Thornton
(pro hac vice)
Leah Cee O. Boomsma
(pro hac vice)
BRIGGS AND MORGAN, P.A.
2200 IDS Center, 80 South 8th Street
Minneapolis, MN 55402
Email: pvolk@briggs.com
lboomsma@briggs.com

Kevin Collins (#ATT0001671)
Sarah J. Gayer (#ATT0002757)
NYEMASTER GOODE, P.C.
One Great American Plaza

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

Because the controlling standards and complained-of conduct only concern rail operations and facilities, ICCTA preempts. *See Maynard*, 360 F. Supp. 2d at 843; *A&W Props.*, 200 S.W.3d at 347 (“[T]he state retains its

traditional police power in terms of public health and safety *except* where the state’s actions *regulate rail transportation.*”) (second emphasis added).

Like with other irrelevant citations, plaintiffs’ reliance on *Franks* goes for naught. Appellants’ Br. p. 33. The *Franks* plaintiff argued that state property law prohibited a railroad from closing private crossings. 593 F.3d at 406. An *en banc* Fifth Circuit reasoned that a general-servitude cause of action “governed by Louisiana property laws and rules of civil procedure that have nothing to do with railroad crossings had been asserted.” *Id.* at 411. Such claims eluded ICCTA preemption because servitude law binds all property owners, not just railroads.

Like in *Emerson*, the court emphasized that the STB jurisdiction question asked whether the crossing dispute involved laws “that have the effect of managing or governing, and not merely incidentally affecting, rail transportation.” *Id.*⁸ The state law in question only directs what railroads do “when the servitude happens to cross a railroad,” and the right to be

⁸ Although *Franks* concluded that preempted laws must apply singularly to railroads, other courts reject such circumscription: “Limiting preemption to state-laws aimed specifically at railroad regulation would arbitrarily limit the purposefully broad language chosen by Congress in the ICCTA.” *Wis. Cent. Ltd. v. City of Marshfield*, 160 F. Supp. 2d 1009, 1012-15 (W.D. Wis. 2000).

enforced was not exclusive to railroads. Since the state-law remedy did not regulate railroads, ICCTA did not preempt. *Id.*⁹

This lawsuit presents precisely the opposite circumstances. Plaintiffs’ petition challenges the operation of trains—specifically parking railcars on bridges and the constructing and maintaining of bridges on which trains cross rivers.

Beyond that, the complained-of track-bearing facilities are integral—not merely incidental—to rail operations. *See* Federal Railroad Administration’s Track and Rail and Infrastructure Integrity Compliance Manual, Volume II: Track Safety Standards, Chapter 1, § 213.33, p. 2.1.24 (July 2012), *available at* <https://www.fra.dot.gov/eLib/details/L04404> (drainage “facilities” include *bridges*, trestles, and culverts); *Jones Creek Investors*, 98 F. Supp. 3d at 1292-94 (water carrying facility integral to rail transportation); *Waubay Lake*, 2014 WL 4287086, *5-6 (same).

Likewise, the movement of railcars and parking of loaded rail cars on railroad bridges are “practices” that Congress charged the STB with regulating. 49 U.S.C. § 10501(b); *Friberg*, 267 F.3d at 444.

⁹ Besides that, the *Franks* defendant failed earlier to raise preemption: “For the first time before the *en banc* court, [defendant] argues that tracks are railroad facilities under Section 10501(b)(2). Today is too late; this argument is waived.” *Id.* at 409.

In sum, plaintiffs' claims have regulatory effects and are therefore preempted.¹⁰

F. ***Preemption does not afford CRANDIC broad tort-liability immunity***

In criticizing the district court for rejecting a direct-regulation requirement, plaintiffs contend that the result below affords rail carriers with tort immunity that Congress never intended. Appellants Br. pp.39-45. According to plaintiffs, ICCTA “says nothing about totally immunizing railroads from tort liability in all 50 states.” *Id.* pp.40 & 43.

¹⁰ Plaintiffs again argue that the resolution of preemption would be premature because defendants failed to carry allegedly necessary evidentiary burdens. Appellants' Br. pp.16, 26-28. According to plaintiffs, before preemption can supplant, railroads must prove that the asserted state-law claims unreasonably interfere with rail transportation. *Id.* p.13. But such a burden only applies to *implied* preemption—not express preemption. *Emerson*, 503 F.3d at 1133; *Franks*, 593 F.3d at 415. As explained in *Elam*, the burden arose only because “our inquiry is whether Mississippi’s negligence [failure to warn] law, *as applied* to the facts of this case, would have the effect of unreasonably burdening or interfering with KCSR’s operations.” 635 F.3d at 813.

And in any event, the railroad operation and facility impairment that this litigation would inflict is self-evident: the bridges are part of the infrastructure supporting tracks over which cargo moves in interstate commerce; a financial penalty to induce bridge modifications would result in operational changes or even transportation corridor reconstruction. The modifications compelled by monetary damages would have significant regulatory impacts. *See Waubay Lake*, 2014 WL 4287086, at *5-6.

The decision below does not provide the railroad defendants wholesale protection against tort claims, and CRANDIC never sought such shielding. This Court should decline plaintiffs' invitation to so characterize the decision below.

The district court holding reflects CRANDIC's argument that challenges to a railroad's design, construction, and maintenance of tracks and facilities or challenges to rail operations have regulatory effects. *See* CRANDIC Brief in Support of Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. pp. 15-19. In such circumstances, the STB offers singular remedies. *Id.* pp.6, 9, 12, 19. Exclusive jurisdiction does not equate with broad tort immunity, but rather courts must implement ICCTA's preemptive scope as the statutory language mandates.

As plaintiffs acknowledge, Congress enacted ICCTA to deregulate rail transportation. Appellants' Br. p.39 ("the Congressional purpose in passing the ICCTA was primarily to abolish the ICC and to deregulate Railway Companies."). That deregulation encompasses state-tort claims, as well as statutes and ordinances, affecting rail transportation. *See* App.67; Plaintiffs' Combined Resistance to Motion for Judgment on Pleadings, p.11.

If state-tort litigation were allowed to manage rail transportation, state-law standards of care would dictate how railroads operate and how they construct and maintain facilities. *See Friberg*, 267 F.3d at 444. Such oversight would sacrifice the national uniformity envisioned by Congress. This case implicates deregulation, not broad tort immunity.

In misrepresenting the effects of the decision below, plaintiffs speculate about how a passenger train derailment might be resolved. *See* Appellants' Br. pp.44-45 (referencing an Amtrak derailment allegedly caused by excessive speed and suggesting that preemption would deny victim recoveries, but overlooking that speeding violates federal regulation and surmising that "the District Court's apparent position is that the person injured and the families of the person killed have no remedy at all against the railroad").

The petition raises state-law claims "that may reasonably be said to have the effect of managing or governing rail transportation." ICCTA preempts such claims, and this Court is not required to consider broader tort-immunity ramifications.

G. *A parallel federal remedy need not exist before a court can defensively preempt state-law claims*

Part and parcel of plaintiffs' mischaracterization of Judge Miller's decision are complaints about the lack of a substitute federal remedy. According to plaintiffs, the preemptive language of 49 U.S.C. § 10501(b) "only preempts remedies duplicative of those provided by ICCTA." Appellants' Br. p.18 (emphasis added). Thus plaintiffs contend that, if ICCTA does not offer relief, then the state remedy prevails. *Id.* In other words before ICCTA can bar plaintiffs' claims a parallel federal remedy must be afforded. *Id.*

That argument, notably devoid of legal citation, is unfounded. When Congress creates an exclusive remedy, the statute displaces claims exceeding that prescription. *Beneficial Nat'l Bank v. Anderson*, 539 U.S. 1, 8 (2003); *see also Ackerman*, 586 N.W.2d at 211, 214 n.3. Importantly, the availability of an equivalent federal recovery is not a prerequisite to state-

law claim preemption.¹¹ *Avco Corp. v. Aero Lodge No. 735, Int’l Ass’n of Machinists & Aerospace Workers*, 390 U.S. 557, 561 (1968) (“[T]he breadth or narrowness of the relief which may be granted under federal law . . . is a distinct question from whether the court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter.”); *see also Caterpillar, Inc.*, 482 U.S. at 391 n.4; *Rogers v. Tyson Foods, Inc.*, 308 F.3d 785, 789 (7th Cir. 2002).

A federal statute’s preemptive “power”—not the availability of a like federal remedy—determines defensive preemption. *Griffioen*, 785 F.3d at 1192 (“Congress has the power to eliminate state-law remedies and causes of action without providing federal substitutes, but when it does so, the presumption is that preemption serves only as a defense, not as a basis for removal to federal court.”); *see also Lundeen*, 447 F.3d at 614 (vacated on other grounds).

¹¹ For example, section 301 of the Labor Management Relations Act precludes state-law claims involving the same subject matter, even though the collectively-bargained-for-dispute-resolution process – a far cry from a state-court lawsuit – is the only means for resolving such controversies. *Avco Corp.*, 390 U.S. at 558-59. “[T]he necessary ground of decision was that the preemptive force of § 301 is so powerful as to displace entirely any state cause of action. . . .” *Franchise Tax Bd. of State of Cal. v. Constr. Laborers Vacation Trust for S. Cal.*, 463 U.S. 1, 23 (1983) (emphasis added).

H. *The ICCTA preempts all economic regulation of railroads*

Plaintiffs dissemble that a suit for monetary damage does not regulate rail operations: “Plaintiffs do not seek to change the rates the railroads charge, the routes that they maintain, or any other aspect of the railroads’ operation. Instead, Plaintiffs seek compensation for losses due to Defendants’ safety-related negligence conduct.” Appellants’ Br. p.49. But monetary claims *do* regulate rail transportation, and plaintiffs seek not only compensation but also penalties that would dictate how railroads operate.

Money damages would compel changes—reconstructing tracks and bridges, reordering interstate-transportation, and modifying the securement of bridges against high water—and an economic recovery would certainly influence railroad rates, routes, and services. The *Kurns v. R.R. Friction Prods. Corp.* Court left no doubt about damages being a form of regulation. 132 S. Ct. 1261, 1269 (2012); *see also Waubay Lake*, 2014 WL 4287086, at *5 n.5.

The *A&W Properties* plaintiffs sought refuge from ICCTA preemption, making the same argument that was rejected below. 200 S.W.3d at 349 (“A & W takes the position that the Railroad can avoid any impact on its operations by compensating A & W in cash.”). The court would have none of it: “If A&W were correct, and payment of damages

could somehow allow a claim to escape preemption, then no civil claim would ever be preempted. Litigants would be able to circumvent completely Congress's attempt to deregulate the railroad industry. This cannot be the law." *Id.* "[W]hen a state requires a railroad to pay damages to a civil litigant for a claim related to the railroad's operations, that claim is the equivalent of state regulation of the railroad." *Id.* (citing *Guckenberg v. Wis. Cent. Ltd.*, 178 F. Supp. 2d 954, 958 (E.D. Wis. 2001); *Pejepscot Indus. Park*, 297 F. Supp. 2d at 332).

The reasoning of the *A&W* court is particularly compelling: plaintiffs in this case assert that "Defendants' actions" worsened "a nearly biennial, minor flood" so as to cause "six billion dollars of property damage." Appellants' Br. p.1. Such monumental financial impacts on two railroads would be anything but "incidental."

If that were not enough, plaintiffs admittedly seek to punish CRANDIC's train operations and facilities (*i.e.*, bridges) management through treble and punitive damages. Despite pretenses about plaintiffs merely seeking recovery for past conduct and not wanting to alter future railroad activities, an award of the magnitude that plaintiffs seek would inevitably influence rail transportation services. *S.D. R.R. Auth.*, 280 F. Supp. 2d at 934 ("Any extremely high award for punitive damages could

well seriously impact the ability of BNSF to serve the shipping public in South Dakota and elsewhere. Economic recoveries sought could well impact rates, routes and services.”).

The petition reveals the sought-after regulatory effects and the desire to decree railroad operations: plaintiffs demand “damages sufficient to punish Defendants and all others from taking similar action in the future.” App.23; 25; 35; 37; 47; Petition ¶¶ 71, 72, 79, 100, 107, 128. Plaintiffs cannot circumvent preemption when the class-action petition seeks an industry-wide change of how railroads protect bridges and how such facilities are designed, constructed, and maintained.

The absence of a request for injunctive relief does not exempt plaintiffs’ claims from the inherent regulatory ramifications. As explained by the *Waubay Lake* court, a lawsuit’s controlling implications do not hinge on injunctive relief: “Even if Plaintiffs’ Complaint could be construed as seeking damages only, such a suit would still be a form of regulation.” 2014 WL 4287086, at *5 n.5 (citing *Kurns*, 132 S. Ct. at 1269; *Rushing v. Kansas City S. Ry. Co.*, 194 F. Supp. 2d 493, 499 (S.D. Miss. 2001)).

III. Plaintiffs’ newly raised FRSA argument does not defeat ICCTA preemption.

A. *Preservation of error*

Plaintiffs never preserved error regarding Section V(C) of their Proof Brief. Plaintiffs failed to raise FRSA preemption before Judge Miller and therefore that issue should not be considered on appeal. A question must be asked below before this Court may answer. *Bank of Am., N.A. v. Schulte*, 843 N.W.2d 876, 883 (Iowa 2014) (issues must be “raised and decided by the district court” to preserve an error); *DeVoss v. State*, 648 N.W.2d 56, 61 (Iowa 2002) (“Our cases have been consistent . . . requiring error preservation in such matters as motions to dismiss.”); *In re C.S.*, 776 N.W.2d 297, 299 (Iowa Ct. App. 2009) (“An issue that is not raised at the trial court may not be raised for the first time on appeal.”); *In re K.C.*, 660 N.W.2d 29, 38 (Iowa 2003) (“Even issues implicating constitutional rights must be presented to and ruled upon by the district court in order to preserve error for appeal.”).

Plaintiffs now pretend that their claims “involve rail safety rather than economic issues, and as such preemption should be examined under the FRSA rather than the ICCTA.” Appellants’ Br. p.45. Pages 22 and 23 of plaintiff’s combined resistance supposedly raise the “issue of the impact of

the FRSA rather than ICCTA.” A careful review of those pages, however, does not reveal any argument about FRSA, rather than ICCTA, preemption. Instead, the briefing below merely discussed the interplay between ICCTA and FRSA presented by two cases: *Tyrrell v. Norfolk Southern Ry. Co.*, 248 F.3d 517 (6th Cir. 2001) and *Washington County*, 384 F.3d at 560. Plaintiffs never suggested that FRSA preemption should be brought to bear and made no attempt to demonstrate how petition allegations justified such an argument.

The brief to Judge Miller merely noted that when the facts involve state-safety laws, courts have considered FRSA’s savings clause. App.79-80; Plaintiffs’ Combined Resistance to Motions for Judgment on the Pleadings, pp.22-23. Likewise, at the October 30, 2015 hearing plaintiffs failed to raise any argument regarding FRSA-preemption applicability. *See generally* App.258-332; Hearing Transcript, 10/30/15 (FRSA preemption neither raised nor discussed). And the absence of any mention of FRSA preemption in Judge Miller’s decision confirms that prior to this appeal plaintiffs were silent regarding FRSA.

Without prior consideration by the lower court, this Court should not take up plaintiffs’ newly minted FRSA plea.

B. *Standard and scope of review*

This Court reviews a dismissal on the pleadings for correction of errors at law. *See Young*, 877 N.W.2d at 127. But because plaintiffs failed to preserve the FRSA issue, no review is warranted. *See Bank of Am.*, 843 N.W.2d at 883; *DeVoss*, 648 N.W.2d at 61. Nevertheless, should review be afforded, this Court “accept[s] as true the petition’s well-pleaded factual allegations, but not its legal conclusions.” *Hedlund*, 875 N.W.2d at 724; *Brown*, 364 N.W.2d at 568, 570.

C. *FRSA does not apply*

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